# **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

02-12-2018

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT IV** 

Appeal No. 2017AP002305 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Vs.

SCOTT H. WENGER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON MAY 3, 2017 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR PORTAGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE THOMAS T. FLUGAUR PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Kristopher Ellis State Bar No. 1094245

995 Applegate Rd., Suite 3 Madison WI 53713 Phone: 608-852-7774 AttorneyKristopher@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Whether there is sufficient evidence to support the resisting an officer conviction on the elements of resisting and lawful authority?

Whether Mr. Wenger forcibly resisted a peaceful arrest when he went rigid after three officers took his camera, forced handcuffs on him, picked him up after he went limp and threw him into a vehicle like a piece of wood.

#### **CIRCUIRT COURT'S RULING**

The circuit court found Mr. Wenger guilty of Resisting an Officer after a bench trial on May 3, 2017. (R 91: 198). The circuit court ruled that Mr. Wenger's actions fit the definition of resisting. (R 91: 197). The circuit court also ruled that a reasonable person would have known that the police officers were acting with lawful authority. (R 91: 197).

The circuit court denied Mr. Wenger's motion to dismiss the charge of Resisting an Officer since Wisconsin no longer recognizes the common law privilege to forcibly resist an unlawful arrest in the absence of unreasonable force. (R 78: 18-19).

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted to clarify what constitutes forcible resistance and a peaceful arrest when a suspect is unlawfully arrested. Additionally, Mr. Wenger does not request oral argument because the circuit court thoroughly explained the facts found at trial.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction in the Circuit Court for Portage County, the Honorable Thomas T. Flugaur presiding.

On September 24, 2014, the State charged Scott H. Wenger with one count of Disorderly Conduct in violation of Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1) and one count of Resisting an Officer in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1). (R 3: 2).

Mr. Wenger moved to dismiss the charges stating the charges were in violation of his First Amended right. (R 18; R 21). The circuit court stated the motion would more accurately be a motion to suppress evidence, as a result of an unlawful arrest. (R 78: 2). The circuit court then dismissed the Disorderly Conduct charge for lack of probable cause. (R 78: 16-19). The circuit court denied Mr. Wenger's motion to dismiss the charge of Resisting an Officer since Wisconsin no longer recognizes the common law privilege to forcibly resist an unlawful arrest in the absence of unreasonable force. (R 78: 18-19).

Mr. Wenger was found guilty of Resisting an Officer after a bench trial on May 3, 2017. (R 91: 198). The circuit court placed Mr. Wenger on probation for nine months. (R 91: 202). Mr. Wenger filed a timely notice of intent to purse postconviction relief and a timely notice of appeal. (R 61; R 73).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 20, 2014, the city of Stevens Point had a social event called Art in the Park at Pfiffner Park. (R 91: 5-6, 112). During the event, Mr. Wenger had the director of Art in the Park call the police to report an incident. (R 91: 15). During the first encounter with Mr. Wenger, Officer Brooks called Mr. Wenger a creep. (R 91: 27; R 56: D2, MVI\_4635 at 0:00:16-0:00:22). After speaking with Mr. Wenger, the police left without arresting Mr. Wenger. (R 91: 18-19).

After the first encounter with Mr. Wenger, the Stevens Point Police Department received complaints that a person was harassing people by taking pictures. (R 91: 110-111). Due to the prior incident, the police knew the complaint involved Mr. Wenger before they arrived. (R

91: 111). Three police officers arrived back at the park in police uniforms. (R 91: 24, 116). After the police arrived at the park, Mr. Wenger announced where he was and indicated that the police were looking for him. (R 91: 23, 113). When the police spoke with Mr. Wenger this time, Officer Brooks asked Mr. Wenger "Why am I here?" and Mr. Wenger asked, "What did you call me?" (R 91: 25; R 56: D2, MVI 4647 at 0:00:00-0:00:10). Officer Brooks eventually stated that he called Mr. Wenger a creep. (R 91: 27). Mr. Wenger then asked if he was being detained. (R 91: 27; R 56: D2, MVI\_4647 at 0:00:10-0:00:38). Officer Brooks then told Mr. Wenger that he was not being detained. (R 91: 27; R 56: D2, MVI\_4647 at 0:00:35-0:00:38). Mr. Wenger then began to walk away from the police. (R 91: 27; R 56: D2, MVI\_4647 at 0:00:38-0:00:40). Officer Brooks continued to follow Mr. Wenger asking him questions. (R 91: 27; R 56: D2, MVI\_4647 at 0:00:40-0:00:48). Mr. Wenger then turned around and started talking to Officer Brooks. (R 91: 27). Mr. Wenger kept talking and not answering Officer Brooks' questions. (R 91: 27; R 56: D2, MVI\_4647 at 0:00:48-0:01:06). During this interaction, Officer Brooks became frustrated and decided to arrest Mr. Wenger for disorderly conduct. (R 91: 30; R 56: D2, MVI 4647 at 0:01:06). Officer Brooks told Mr. Wenger that he is no longer free to go and is being detained. (R 91: 30; R 56: D2, MVI\_4647 at 0:01:06-0:01:10). Officer Brooks then grabbed Mr. Wenger's hand to detain him. (R 91: 37; R 56: D2, MVI\_4647 at 0:01:17). One of the officers took Mr. Wenger's camera, and another officer started handcuffing Mr. Wenger. (R 91: 30, 104). The police had to use two sets of handcuffs on Mr. Wenger because he is a bigger guy and could not get his arms completely around his back. (R 91: 114).

After the police handcuffed Mr. Wenger, they started to escort Mr. Wenger to the squad vehicle. (R 91: 114). The squad car was a Ford Explorer SUV. (R 91: 119). When the police escorted Mr. Wenger to the squad vehicle, Mr. Wenger began shouting that the police were violating his rights and going limp. (R 91: 39, 114). Mr. Wenger fell to the ground when he went limp. (R 91: 82-83, 124). Mr. Wenger stumbled and fell more than once. (R 91: 86).

The officers picked Mr. Wenger up and started carrying him to the squad vehicle. (R 91: 40). The officers struggled to get Mr. Wenger in the squad vehicle. (R 91: 114). The officers picked Mr. Wenger up and threw him into the vehicle like a piece of wood. (R 91: 89). The door to the squad vehicle was about knee high. (R 91: 120). Some people may have difficulty getting into the squad vehicle due to the height. (R 91: 120). After the officers threw Mr. Wenger in the squad vehicle, Officer Brooks turned Mr. Wenger around, Mr. Wenger then put his feet on the ground, stood up and became rigid. (R 91: 42, 102-103, 116). The officers then had to push Mr. Wenger in the squad car a second time. (R 91: 42, 116). The circuit court found that Mr. Wenger resisted the officers when he became rigid and would not get back into the vehicle. (R 91: 197). The circuit court found that Mr. Wenger used some force by being rigid and that fits the definition of resisting. (R 91: 197).

### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. The State did not present sufficient evidence to show that Mr. Wenger resisted an officer acting with lawful authority by going rigid after officers arrested Mr. Wenger for personal reasons, picked Mr. Wenger up and threw him into a vehicle like a piece of wood.

#### A. Circuit Court Ruling.

The circuit court found Mr. Wenger guilty of Resisting an Officer after a bench trial on May 3, 2017. (R 91: 198). The circuit court ruled that Mr. Wenger's actions fit the definition of resisting. (R 91: 197). The circuit court also ruled that a reasonable person would have known that the police officers were acting with lawful authority. (R 91: 197).

#### B. Standard of Review.

The only question for this court, for sufficiency of the evidence presented on appeal in a criminal case, is whether the evidence presented, believed and rationally considered by the jury, was sufficient to prove the defendants' guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. This ultimate test is the same whether the trier of the facts is a court or a jury. Gauthier v. State, 28 Wis. 2d 412, 416, 137 N.W.2d 101, 103 (1965). The briefs and arguments on this issue debate what the trier of the facts could have found or what this court should determine. Lock v. State, 31 Wis. 2d 110, 114, 142 N.W.2d 183, 185 (1966). The test is not whether this court is convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt but whether this court can conclude the trier of the facts could, acting reasonably, be convinced to the required degree of certitude by the evidence which it had and accept as true. *Id.* at 115. The evidence when considered most favorably to the state, the conviction must be so insufficient in probative value that no trier of the facts acting reasonably could be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. Sufficiency of evidence is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. State v. Booker, 2006 WI 79, ¶ 12, 292 Wis. 2d 43, 54, 717 N.W.2d 676, 681.

## C. Applicable Legal Standard.

The three elements of Resisting an Officer under Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1), are:

- (1) the defendant resisted an officer;
- (2) the officer was doing an act in his or her official capacity with lawful authority; and
- (3) the defendant resisted the officer knowingly; that is, that defendant knew or believed that he or she was resisting the officer while the officer was acting in his or her official capacity and with lawful authority." *State v. Lossman*, 118 Wis. 2d 526, 532, 348 N.W.2d 159, 162 (1984).

Furthermore, resisting an officer under Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1), requires as one of its elements that the accused know that the officer was acting with lawful authority. *Id.* at 547.

Words alone cannot establish resistance. *State v. Welch*, 37 Wis. 196, 202 (1875). It is not enough that the execution of the process is hindered, the officer must be

resisted. *Id.* The resistance must be active and direct towards the officer. *Id.* To prove the resisting element, the State must prove a defendant opposed an officer by force or threat of force. *State v. Dearborn*, 2008 WI App 131, ¶ 14, 313 Wis. 2d 767, 776, 758 N.W.2d 463, 467. Resisting excludes creating passive or indirect difficulties. *Welch*, 37 Wis. 196, 202.

To show that the officer was acting in his official capacity, the conduct must have some relation to his employment as a deputy. *Lossman*, 118 Wis. 2d 526, 537.

A defendant must have knowledge that the officer was both acting in an "official capacity" and acting with "lawful authority" when the defendant resisted the officer. *Id.* at 536. An officer is acting with lawful authority if the officer's actions are conducted in accordance with the law. *Id.* at 537. Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1) requires an element that the defendant know that the officer was acting with lawful authority at the time the defendant resisted the officer. *Id.* 

# D. Legal Argument.

i. Mr. Wenger did not forcibly resist the officers when Mr. Wenger went rigid after three officers picked him up and threw him into a vehicle like a piece of wood.

After the police officers arrested Mr. Wenger, Mr. Wenger began shouting that the police were violating his constitutional rights. (R 91: 39, 114). According to the Supreme Court of Wisconsin, words alone cannot establish resistance. *Welch*, 37 Wis. 196, 202. While being escorted to the police squad vehicle, Mr. Wenger also went limp. (R 91: 39, 114). In order for the State to prove the element of resisting, the State must show the defendant opposed an officer by force or threat of force. *Dearborn*, 2008 WI App 131, ¶ 14. Passive actions, such as going limp, are not enough to establish the element of resisting. *Welch*, 37 Wis. 196, 202.

After Mr. Wenger stumbled, fell and went limp, the police officers started to carry Mr. Wenger. (R 91: 40). The officers then threw Mr. Wenger into the squad vehicle like a piece of wood. (R 91: 89). After the officers placed Mr. Wenger into the squad vehicle, Mr. Wenger put his feet on the ground, stood up and became rigid. (R 91: 42, 102-103, 116). The police officers then pushed Mr. Wenger into the squad car. (R 91: 42, 116). The circuit court found that Mr. Wenger resisted the officers when he became rigid and would not get back into the vehicle. (R 91: 197). The circuit court found that Mr. Wenger used some force by being rigid and that fits the definition of resisting. (R 91: 197). The State is not able to prove the resisting element by showing the defendant hindered the execution of the process. Welch, 37 Wis. 196, 202. Resistance must be active and toward the officer. Id. In this case, the court determined that Mr. Wenger resisted an officer by using some force when he was rigid after three officers took his camera, forced handcuffs on him without asking him to put his hands behind his back, picked him up after he went limp and threw him into a vehicle like a piece of wood. The actions of the officers created a very uncomfortable situation where going rigid seems very appropriate. It would have been difficult for Mr. Wenger to not become rigid when the officers were carrying and throwing him like a piece of wood.

ii. Officer Brooks was not acting with lawful authority when he decided to arrest Mr. Wenger and Mr. Wenger did not believe that Officer Brooks was acting with lawful authority.

To show that an officer was acting in his official capacity, the conduct must have some relation to his employment as a deputy. *Lossman*, 118 Wis. 2d 526, 537. Officer Brooks' actions have some relation to his employment as an officer because Officer Brooks was responding to complaints that a person was harassing people by taking pictures. (R 91: 110-111).

Officer Brooks' decision to arrest Mr. Wenger was based on Officer Brooks' personal feelings towards Mr. Wenger and not unlawful conduct by Mr. Wenger. When Officer Brooks spoke to Mr. Wenger prior to the arrest, Officer Brooks called Mr. Wenger a creep. (R 91: 27). Officer Brooks then became frustrated with Mr. Wenger and decided to arrest him for Disorderly Conduct. (R 91: 29-30). The circuit court dismissed the Disorderly Conduct charge for lack of probable cause. (R 78: 16-19). For an officer to be acting with lawful authority, the officer's actions must be conducted in accordance with the law. Lossman, 118 Wis. 2d 526, 537. Officer Brooks' actions were not conducted in accordance with the law, because Officer Brooks arrested Mr. Wenger based on personal motivations and not unlawful conduct by Mr. Wenger.

Furthermore, Mr. Wenger did not believe Officer Brooks was acting with lawful authority. Resisting an officer under Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1), requires as one of its elements that the accused know that the officer was acting with lawful authority. *Id.* at 547. In this case, Mr. Wenger made it very clear that he did not believe that Officer Brooks was acting with lawful authority. Mr. Wenger shouted that the police were violating his rights and asked for witnesses to testify to the officer's unlawful conduct. (R 91: 39, 114). Based on the actions of Mr. Wenger and Officer Brooks, it is clear that Officer Brooks was not acting with lawful authority and Mr. Wenger did not at all believe that Officer Brooks was acting with lawful authority.

### E. Summary.

The State did not present sufficient evidence showing that Mr. Wenger resisted an officer. The circuit court determined that Mr. Wenger resisted an officer by using some force when he was rigid after three officers took his camera, forced handcuffs on him without asking him to put his hands behind his back, picked him up after he went limp and threw him into a vehicle like a piece of wood. The actions of the officers created a very uncomfortable situation were going rigid seems very

appropriate. It would have been difficult for Mr. Wenger to not become rigid when the officers were carrying and throwing him like a piece of wood.

Additionally, Officer Brooks decision to arrest Mr. Wenger was based on Officer Brooks personal feelings towards Mr. Wenger and not unlawful conduct by Mr. Wenger. Officer Brooks called Mr. Wenger a creep and decided to arrest Mr. Wenger after Officer Brooks became frustrated with Mr. Wenger. Mr. Wenger knew Officer Brooks was not acting with lawful authority due to his conduct. Mr. Wenger shouted that the police were violating his rights and asked for witnesses to testify to the officer's unlawful conduct. Based on the actions of Mr. Wenger and Officer Brooks, it is clear that Officer Brooks was not acting with lawful authority and Mr. Wenger did not at all believe that Officer Brooks was acting with lawful authority.

I. Mr. Wenger did not forcibly resist a peaceful arrest when he went rigid after three officers took his camera, forced handcuffs on him, picked him up after he went limp and threw him into a vehicle like a piece of wood.

## A. Circuit Court Ruling.

The circuit court denied Mr. Wenger's motion to dismiss the charge of Resisting an Officer, more accurately a motion to suppress evidence as a result of an unlawful arrest, since Wisconsin no longer recognizes the common law privilege to forcibly resist an unlawful arrest in the absence of unreasonable force. (R 78: 18-19).

#### B. Standard of Review.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals reviews a motion to suppress under a two-prong analysis. *State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 22, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 685, 811 N.W.2d 775, 782. First, the court reviews the circuit court's findings of historical fact and will uphold them unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 22, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 685, 811 N.W.2d 775, 782–83. Second, the

court reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts de novo. *Id.* Whether police conduct violated a defendant's constitutional rights under Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures presents a question of constitutional fact that this court independently reviews. *Id.* 

## C. Applicable Legal Standard.

Based upon public policy, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin decided to abrogate the common law affirmative defense of resisting an illegal arrest. State v. Hobson, 218 Wis. 2d 350, 353, 577 N.W.2d 825, 826 (1998). The Supreme Court of Wisconsin held that a private citizen may not use force to resist peaceful arrest when he has good reason to believe the officer is an authorized peace officer performing his duties, regardless of whether the arrest is illegal. Id. at 380. With modern technology and weapons, it has become highly unlikely that a suspect, using reasonable force, can escape from an arrest, whether lawful or unlawful. Id. at 375. The Supreme Court of Wisconsin found violent self-help is antisocial and unacceptably dangerous. Id. at 379. Furthermore, the Court found, there should be no right to forcibly resist an unlawful arrest in the absence of unreasonable force. Id. When persons resist arrest, they endanger themselves, the arresting officers, and bystanders. Id.

# D. Legal Argument

i. Mr. Wenger did not forcibly resist a peaceful arrest when he went rigid after three officers took his camera, forced handcuffs on him, picked him up after he went limp and threw him into a vehicle like a piece of wood.

The Stevens Point Police Department received complaints that a person was harassing people by taking

pictures at social event called Art in the Park at Pfiffner Park. (R 91: 5-6, 110-112). Due to the prior incident, the police knew the complaint involved Mr. Wenger before they arrived. (R 91: 111). Three police officers arrived at the park in police uniforms. (R 91: 24, 116). During the interaction, Officer Brooks became frustrated with Mr. Wenger and called Mr. Wenger a creep. (R 91: 27, 29-30). After getting frustrated with Mr. Wenger, Officer Brooks decided to arrest Mr. Wenger for Disorderly Conduct. (R 91: 29-30). The circuit court dismissed the Disorderly Conduct charge for lack of probable cause. (R 78: 16-19). However, the circuit court denied Mr. Wenger's motion to dismiss the charge of Resisting an Officer since Wisconsin no longer recognizes the common law privilege to forcibly resist an unlawful arrest in the absence of unreasonable force. (R 78: 18-19).

After Officer Brooks decided to arrest Mr. Wenger for Disorderly Conduct, Officer Brooks grabbed Mr. Wenger's hand to detain him. (R 91: 37). One of the officers took Mr. Wenger's camera, another officer started to handcuff Mr. Wenger. (R 91: 30, 104). The police had to use two sets of handcuffs on Mr. Wenger because he is a bigger guy and could not get his arms completely around his back. (R 91: 114). It took the police about 20 to 30 seconds to handcuff Mr. Wenger. (R 91: 68).

While being escorted to the squad vehicle, Mr. Wenger stumbled, fell and went limp. (R 91: 40). The State is not able to prove the resisting element by showing the defendant hindered the execution of the process. *Welch*, 37 Wis. 196, 202. Resistance must be active and toward the officer. *Id.* After Mr. Wenger went limp, the police officers picked up Mr. Wenger, carried him to the squad vehicle, and threw him into the squad vehicle like a piece of wood. (R 91: 40, 89). After the officers threw Mr. Wenger into the squad vehicle, Mr. Wenger put his feet on the ground, stood up and became rigid. (R 91: 42, 102-103, 116). The police officers then pushed Mr. Wenger into the squad car. (R 91: 42, 116). The circuit court found that Mr. Wenger resisted the officers when he

became rigid. (R 91: 197). The circuit court found that Mr. Wenger used some force by being rigid and that fits the definition of resisting. (R 91: 197).

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