RECEIVED

04-13-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal No. 2017AP002305-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SCOTT H. WENGER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON MAY 3, 2017 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR PORTAGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE THOMAS T. FLUGAUR PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Ryan Wetzsteon Assistant District Attorney State Bar Number 1030606 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Portage County District Attorney's Office 1516 Church St Stevens Point, Wisconsin 54481 (715) 346-1300 ryan.wetzsteon@da.wi.gov

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

ARGUMENT

1. The evidence presented at trial was sufficient to support the Defendant-Appellant's conviction for Resisting an Officer on the elements of resisting and lawful authority.

a. Circuit Court Ruling

The Defendant-Appellant was found guilty of Resisting an Officer, contrary to Wis. Stat. §946.41(1), at a bench trial on May 3, 2017. (R. 91: 198). The circuit court ruled that the Defendant resisted officers when he was using force to become rigid in order to not get into the squad car. (R 91: 197) The circuit court also ruled that the police officers were acting with lawful authority and that a reasonable person would have known, under all the circumstances, that the police officers were acting with lawful authority. (R 91: 191, 197).

b. Standard of Review

In assessing the sufficiency of the evidence, the test applied upon appeal is whether the evidence adduced, believed, and rationally considered by the jury was sufficient to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See Gauthier v. State, 28 Wis.2d 412, 416, 137 N.W.2d 101, 103 (1965). As the burden of proof is the same whether the trial is to the court or to a jury, the test to be applied to determine sufficiency of the evidence is the same. See id. In testing the sufficiency of the evidence, the appellate court is not required to be convinced of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, but only that the court could find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. See id. The credibility of witnesses is properly the function of the trier of fact and it is only when the evidence that the trier of fact has relied upon is inherently or patently incredible that the appellate court will substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact. See id. In conducting a review of a finding based upon the evidence, the evidence shall be viewed in the light most favorable to the finding. See State v. Lossman, 118 Wis.2d 526, 541, 348 N.W.2d 159, 166-167 (1984), quoting Bautista v. State, 53 Wis.2d 218, 223, 191 N.W.2d 725 (1971). Reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence can support a finding of fact and if more than one inference can be drawn from the evidence, the inference which supports the finding is the one that must be adopted. *See id*.

c. Applicable Legal Standard

The crime of Resisting an Officer, contrary to Wis. Stat. §946.41(1), has the following elements that must be proven at trial prior to conviction:

(1) the defendant resisted an officer.

(2) the officer was doing an act in in his or her official capacity with lawful authority.

(3) the defendant resisted the officer knowingly; that is, that the defendant knew or believed that he or she was resisting the officer while the officer was acting in his or her official capacity and with lawful authority. *See Lossman* at 532.

In addition, the knowledge of the defendant must include that he or she (1) resisted the officer, (2) that the officer was acting in an official capacity, and (3) that the officer was acting with lawful authority. *See id.* at 536.

The resistance prohibited by the statute has been further defined to mean "to oppose by direct, active, and quasi forcible means." *See State v. Welch*, 37 Wis. 196, 201 (1875). The resistance must be active and directed towards the officer. *See id.* at 202. There need not be actual force or even a common assault upon the officer, and resistance may be found without actual violence or technical assault. *See id.* In fact, while mere words alone cannot constitute resistance, threats, accompanied with present ability and apparent intention to execute the threat, can constitute resistance. *See id.*

In order for the officer to be acting in his or her official capacity, the conduct of the officer must have some relation to his or her employment as an officer. *See Lossman* at 537. In order for the officer to be acting with lawful authority, the officer's actions must be conducted in accordance with the law. *See id.*

- d. Legal Argument
 - i. The Defendant-Appellant resisted officers when he was using force to become rigid in order to not get into the squad car.

Since the trial in this case was to the court, the circuit court articulated its findings of fact made from the evidence presented at trial and offered its conclusions based on those findings. (R 91: 178-198). In fact, the circuit court assessed each of the individual actions of the Defendant after his arrest to determine whether the Defendant resisted the officers in those actions. First, the circuit court determined that the Defendant's actions in "going limp" while the Defendant was being escorted to the squad car were not resisting the officers. (R 91: 192-193). This determination was based on the circuit court's review and assessment of State v. Welch, supra. and the definition of resisting, meaning "to oppose by direct, active, and quasi-forcible means." (R 91: 193). The circuit court was clear that the Defendant's actions in "going limp" did not meet the definition of resistance. (R 91: 193). Second, the circuit court determined that the resistance experienced by the officers while putting handcuffs on the Defendant would not be the circuit court's basis for a finding that the Defendant resisted officers. (R 91: 194-195). This appeared to be as a result of conflicting testimony of the officers on whether two sets of handcuffs were used on the Defendant due to resistance by the Defendant or the Defendant's size. (R 91: 194-195). Finally, the circuit court pointed to the testimony of all three officers regarding the Defendant's actions at the squad car while trying to get the defendant in the squad car:

And that he was rigid and resisting and not cooperating. He - so that to the point that he had to be physically lifted and put into the back seat, like a piece of lumber. He did not bend his legs, he did not bend the rest of his body and get into a car like somebody who would normally go in. And there was testimony that he was laying on the seat and he calmed down and he asked Officer Brooks in a cooperative fashion, if Officer Brooks would help him. An because he was on his stomach, he said – Officer Brooks testified that the defendant said, "Don't shut the door on my feet. Please help me sit up." And when Officer Brooks did help him sit up, he sprung up and got back out of the car...But this, what took place at the car, in terms of his unwillingness to just cooperate, get into the car, he was, in the Court's estimation, using some force by being rigid. And that, in the Court's estimation, does fit the definition of resistance. (R 91: 195-197).

Clearly, in making its finding and ruling, the circuit court accepted the testimony of the officers and properly applied the proper definition of resistance to make its determination that the Defendant resisted officers. Certainly the circuit court's assessment that the Defendant was using force by being rigid in order to not get into the squad car is not inherently or patently incredible such that the circuit court's finding should be overturned.

ii. The police officers were acting with lawful authority and the Defendant-Appellant knew the police officers were acting with lawful authority.

The circuit court likewise made findings of fact and offered its conclusions regarding the lawful authority of the police officers in their dealings with the Defendant. The circuit court determined from all of the evidence that the Defendant was at Art in the Park with his camera and was taking photographs. (R 91: 182). There was a complaint of the Defendant's behavior made to law enforcement because the Defendant was taking pictures of people, circling a woman with his camera, and people became annoyed by it. (R 91: 183-186, 191). In addition, the circuit court noted that there were children present and it may have been thought by some of the adults that perhaps the Defendant was taking photographs of children. (R 91: 186-187). This led to people getting "worked up" and, from a law enforcement perspective, a disturbance being created. (R 91: 187). Prior to the arrival of law enforcement officers, the Defendant told Anthony Kurtz that "the police officers would be coming soon and I want you to watch this." (R 91: 184). When law enforcement made contact with the Defendant he was talking very loudly and kept repeating himself and stating, "Am I being detained? Am I being detained? Am I being detained?" (R 91: 187). While the circuit court found that a disturbance was being created, there wasn't a significant disturbance going on. (R 91: 187). Anthony Kurtz was taken aback by the bizarre incident and thought that the Defendant instigated it. (R91: 184). Kurtz further testified that he was disturbed by what had happened. (R 91: 196). The circuit court also noted that it was a rare circumstance that a person would want to have the police come after them in the hope of obtaining an opportunity to vindicate themselves later in a court proceeding. (R 91: 185). The circuit court noted that an arrest is lawful when the officer has reasonable grounds to believe a person has committed a crime. (R 91: 189). The circuit court, then taking these circumstances into consideration, determined that the officers did have reasonable grounds to make an arrest of the defendant and were acting with lawful authority. (R 91: 189, 191, 196). Furthermore, the circuit court found that, while it can't look into a person's mind to find knowledge, knowledge must be found, if at all, from the defendant's acts, words, statements, if any, and from all the facts and circumstances in the case, bearing on knowledge. (R 91: 197). From those acts, words, statements, facts and circumstances, a reasonable person would have known that the officers were acting with lawful authority. (R 91: 197).

2. The Defendant-Appellant resisted a peaceful arrest when he was using force to become rigid in order to not get into the squad car.

a. Circuit Court Ruling

The Circuit Court treated the Defendant-Appellant's motion to dismiss as a motion to suppress evidence based on an alleged unlawful arrest. (R 78: 2). The motion was denied because the circuit court found that there was probable cause for the arrest of the Defendant-Appellant and the Defendant-Appellant did not have a common law privilege to resist officers. (R 78: 18-19).

b. Standard of Review

In review of a denial of a motion to suppress, findings of historical fact are upheld unless found to be clearly erroneous. *See* Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2); *State v. Sykes*, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 750-751, 695 N.W.2d 277 (2005). The application of constitutional principles to those facts is reviewed de novo. *See id*.

c. Applicable Legal Standard

In order to be lawful, an arrest must be based on probable cause. *See State v. Kutz*, 267 Wis. 2d 531, 544, 671 N.W.2d 660 (Ct. App. 2003). Probable cause for arrest exists "when the totality of the circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably

committed a crime." *Id.* at 544-555. The probable cause standard is an "objective" standard, independent of an officer's subjective assessment. *See id.* at 545.

Probable cause refers to the quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that defendant committed a crime. There must be more than a possibility or suspicion that defendant committed an offense, but the evidence need not reach the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt or even that guilt is more likely than not. *State v. Mitchell*, 167 Wis. 2d 672, 681-82, 482 N.W.2d 364 (1992).

Probable cause to arrest "is to be judged by the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act." State v. Truax, 151 Wis. 2d 354, 360, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989). Like reasonable suspicion, "[w]hen a police officer is confronted with two reasonable competing inferences . . . the officer is entitled to rely on the reasonable inference justifying arrest." Id. With that standard in mind, the question becomes whether the police officers had a reasonable belief that the Defendant may have committed the crime of Disorderly Conduct, contrary to Wis. Stat. §947.01(1). A person commits Disorderly Conduct when that person engages in violent, abusive, indecent, profane, boisterous, unreasonably loud, or similar disorderly conduct and that the person's conduct occurred under circumstances where such conduct tends to cause or provoke a disturbance. See State v. Schwebke, 253 Wis.2d 1, 17, 644 N.W.2d 666 (2002).

While Wisconsin had previously recognized a common law privilege to forcibly resist an illegal arrest, the Supreme Court abrogated that privilege in *State v*. *Hobson*, 218 Wis.2d 350, 380, 577 N.W.2d 825 (1998). In that case, the Supreme Court held that a private citizen may not use force to resist a peaceful arrest by an authorized peace officer performing his duties, regardless of whether the arrest is illegal under the circumstances. *See id.*

d. Legal Argument

The Defendant-Appellant resisted a peaceful arrest when he was using force to become rigid in order to not get into the squad car.

The circuit court held a hearing on the Defendant's motion to dismiss on November 13, 2015 and issued its decision in an oral ruling on February 3, 2016. (R 79 and 78, The evidence presented at the motion respectively). hearing on November 13, 2015 was consistent with the evidence presented at trial. In addition, the circuit court's findings of fact and conclusions drawn from the evidence presented in its decision on February 3, 2016, were also consistent. The circuit court determined from all of the evidence that the Defendant was at Art in the Park with his camera and was taking photographs. (R 91: 182). There was a complaint of the Defendant's behavior made to law enforcement because the Defendant was taking pictures of people, circling a woman with his camera, and people became annoyed by it. (R 91: 183-186, 191). In addition, the circuit court noted that there were children present and it may have been thought by some of the adults that perhaps the Defendant was taking photographs of children. (R 91: 186-187). This led to people getting "worked up" and, from a law enforcement perspective, a disturbance being created. (R 91: 187). Prior to the arrival of law enforcement officers, the Defendant told Anthony Kurtz that "the police officers would be coming soon and I want you to watch this." (R 91: 184). When law enforcement made contact with the Defendant he was talking very loudly and kept repeating himself and stating, "Am I being detained? Am I being detained? Am I being detained?" (R 91: 187). While the circuit court found that a disturbance was being created, there wasn't a significant disturbance going on. (R 91: 187). Anthony Kurtz was taken aback by the bizarre incident and thought that the Defendant instigated it. (R91: 184). Kurtz further testified that he was disturbed by what had happened. (R 91: 196). The circuit court also noted that it was a rare circumstance that a person would want to have the police come after them in the hope of obtaining an opportunity to vindicate themselves later in a court proceeding. (R 91: 185).

From this evidence and findings of fact, the circuit court ruled correctly twice that the officers had probable (or reasonable) cause to arrest the Defendant: first, in its decision on the motion on February 3, 2016 and next, in its decision at the trial on May 3, 2017. (R 78:19, R 91: Contrary to the Defendant-Appellant's 189, 196). assertion in its brief at pages 6 and 15, it was not for a want of probable cause that the circuit court dismissed the Disorderly Conduct charge. The circuit court dismissed the Disorderly Conduct charge *sua sponte* in its decision on the motion by ruling, "the Court simply can't find that there is really enough evidence...to support that case going to trial..." and "that it did not believe that the State would be able to prove that case beyond a reasonable doubt." (R 78: 19, R 91: 179). The circuit court at all times held that the police officers had probable cause to arrest the Defendant for Disorderly Conduct.

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